## UC Davis UC Davis Electronic Theses and Dissertations

## Title

Effect of amoxicillin clavulanate on the intestinal microbiota and metabolomes of mice administered yogurt and Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis BB-12

**Permalink** https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3ww0t04t

**Author** Uttarwar, Ruchita

**Publication Date** 2022

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

Effect of amoxicillin clavulanate on the intestinal microbiota and metabolomes of mice administered yogurt and *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. *lactis* BB-12

By

## RUCHITA UTTARWAR THESIS

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

## MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

Animal Biology

in the

### OFFICE OF GRADUATE STUDIES

of the

## UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

DAVIS

Approved

Maria Marco, Chair

Yanhong Liu

Carolyn Slupsky

Committee in Charge

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is very difficult to say in words how thankful I am for this golden opportunity. Although, it wasn't easy for me to move from different country, adapt to a new lifestyle and develop better communicating skills, I must thank the God for guiding me through this journey. It is my foremost desire to thank the University of California, Davis which provided me an opportunity to venture in the immense world of advance research and all provide the necessary guidance, help to succeed in that. I would like to express my immeasurable appreciation and profound gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Maria Marco for believing in me and giving this wonderful opportunity to work collaboratively. Her suggestions, constructive comments, vast knowledge and incessant encouragement played significant role to hone my research ability and to finish this thesis in a timely manner. Thank you to Dr. Yanhong Liu, Dr. Carolyn Slupsky, Dr. Kristina Horback and Dr. James, W. Oltjen who supported me throughout my difficult journey and accepted me at Animal Biology Graduate Group.

That said, I am very thankful to my collogues Solomon Mekonnen and Peter Finnegan for their support in project work. I could not have done this without Wannes van Beeck, Lei Wei, Glory Bui, Hsiao-Wen Huang and every member of Dr. Marco's lab group who helped me in this journey and with my research work. I really enjoyed working with you and wish you the best in your future endeavors.

My family has been the greatest gift I could ever receive, and I feel blessed to have found them. I am thankful to my parents AAI, BABA who inspired me to excel and taught me to never give up on anything. Special thanks to my brother Rohan Uttarwar and my husband Kushal Juneja who played a crucial role as a mentor by teaching me critical communication techniques and supporting me in every step.

ii

#### ABSTRACT

One of the most common indications for probiotic treatment is the prevention of antibioticassociated diarrhea (AAD). *Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis* BB-12 is a safe and well-tolerated strain that has a long history of use as a probiotic in dietary supplements and fermented milk products. Our aim was to understand the capacity of the antibiotic amoxicillin-clavulanate (AMC) to alter the intestinal microbial composition and metabolome of mice when administered concurrently with either BB-12 or yogurt or both combined using 16S rRNA DNA sequencing, qPCR, and NMR metabolomics. To study the effects of BB-12, yogurt and AMC, three cohorts of mice were used, and treatments were given through oral route in drinking water.

AMC resulted in significant reductions (p<0.05) in male mouse body weight throughout whole study and reduction in water intake for first five days when consumed in the drinking water over a ten-day regimen. AMC administration also resulted in significant (p<0.05) loss in bacterial cell numbers in the cecum and feces overtime. The fecal microbiota changed within one day of the start of AMC administration. These changes included significant reductions in bacterial alphadiversity and increases in proportions of Pseudomonadota (formerly called Proteobacteria), most notably *Erwiniaceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae*. Although there were differences in taxonomic enrichments between mouse study cohorts, the cecal contents of all mice given AMC contained lower concentrations of the short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) acetate, butyrate and propionate and higher quantities of arginine, glutamine, glycine, proline, serine and threonine.

Overall, even after recommended dose of AMC was administered, antibiotics impacted severely on 16S rRNA cell counts, BB-12 cells in yogurt, gut microbial community and on cecal metabolites specifically SCFA and amino acids.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

| CH         | IAPTER- 1  | 1           |  |
|------------|--|-------------|--|
| Lit        | erature Review   | 1           |  |
| 1.         | Introduction   | 2           |  |
| 2.         | Antibiotic mediated effects  | 4           |  |
|            | 2.1 Gut Microbiome   | 4           |  |
|            | 2.2 Bacterial Metabolites  | 7           |  |
| 3.         | Effects of Antibiotic associate diarrhea (AAD):                                  | 8           |  |
|            | 3.1 Strategies, evidence and mechanism of action                                 | 8           |  |
|            | 3.2 AAD caused by AMC  | 9           |  |
| 4.         | AAD treatments:  | 10          |  |
|            | 4.1 Prevention and treatment options for AAD                                     | 10          |  |
|            | 4.2 Probiotics for AAD   | 11          |  |
|            | 4.3 Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis (BB-12) persistence in the GI tract a | nd AAD pre- |  |
|            | vention  | 12          |  |
|            | 4.4 Mechanistic basis for AAD prevention   | 14          |  |
| 5.         | Ongoing clinical study   | 15          |  |
| 6.         | Objective of the present study   | 16          |  |
| 7.         | References   | 17          |  |
| CHAPTER -2 |  |             |  |
| 1.         | Introduction   | 21          |  |
| 2.         | Materials and Methods  | 22          |  |
|            | 2.1 Preparation and enumeration of <i>B. lactis</i> BB-12 freeze-dried powder    | 22          |  |
|            | 2.2 Yogurt preparation   | 23          |  |
|            | 2.3 Mouse study  | 24          |  |
|            | 2.4 Sample preparation for genomic DNA and metabolomic analysis                  | 25          |  |
|            | 2.5 Genomic DNA extraction   | 25          |  |
|            | 2.6 Quantitative PCR for BB-12 and total bacterial cells numbers                 | 25          |  |
|            | 2.7 16S rRNA gene amplicon DNA sequencing  | 26          |  |
|            | 2.8 Metabolome analysis  | 27          |  |
|            | 2.9 Statistical analysis   |             |  |

| 3. | Results   |
|----|---|
|    | 3.1 Mouse body weights and water intake were affected by amoxicillin-clavulanate (AMC)        |
|    | administration29  |
|    | 3.2 AAD and yogurt altered the mouse digestive tract  |
|    | 3.3 Bifidobacterium tuf copy numbers were at or below the detect limit in most mice30         |
|    | 3.4 AMC caused significant losses in bacterial numbers in the mouse intestine30               |
|    | 3.5 AMC resulted in significant changes to the intestinal microbiota composition31            |
|    | 3.6 AMC reduced SCFA and altered amino acid concentrations in the mouse cecum33               |
|    | 3.7 Cecal metabolites were correlated with specific microbial taxa34                          |
| 4. | Discussions   |
| 5. | Conclusions   |
| 6. | Figures   |
|    | Figure 1. Weight change and water intake over the 10-day study                                |
|    | Figure 2. <i>Bifidobacterium tuf</i> copy numbers in mouse fecal and cecal contents40         |
|    | Figure 3. Bacterial cell number estimates in mouse cecal and fecal and cecal contents41       |
|    | Figure 4. Bacterial beta diversity in mouse feces and cecal contents                          |
|    | Figure 5. Bacterial taxa detected in significantly different proportions in fecal samples43   |
|    | Figure 6. AMC resulted in reduced cecal SCFA and altered amino acid levels44                  |
|    | Figure 7. Correlation between cecal metabolome and microbiota45                               |
| 7. | Supplementary Figures   |
|    | Suppl. Fig 1. Colon length of mice46  |
|    | Suppl. Fig. 2. Antibiotics resulted in enlarged cecum sizes47                                 |
|    | Suppl. Fig 3. Bacterial beta diversity in fecal contents                                      |
|    | Suppl. Fig 4. Bacterial alpha diversity in fecal and cecal contents                           |
|    | Suppl. Fig. 5. Alpha diversity of fecal contents changes over time in different treatments.50 |
|    | Suppl. Fig. 6. Relative abundance of bacteria using taxa bar plot                             |
|    | Suppl. Fig. 7. Bacterial phyla in the mouse fecal contents in three cohorts                   |
|    | Suppl. Fig. 8. Proportions of bacteria in fecal and cecal contents on day 10 of the study53   |
|    | Suppl. Fig. 9. Heat map of cecal bacteria based on bacterial proportion54                     |
|    | Suppl. Fig. 10. Significantly different cecal metabolites affected by AMC55                   |

|    | Suppl. Fig. 11. Cohort effect on cecal metabolites | 56 |
|----|--|----|
| 8. | References   |    |

## **CHAPTER 1**

## LITERATURE REVIEW

Amoxicillin-Clavulanate and BB-12 effects on Antibiotic associated diarrhea

#### 1. Introduction

Antibiotics have been widely used to inhibit the growth of bacterial pathogens and consequently to treat bacterial infections for decades [1]. While antibiotics are saving many lives, they also inhibit and inactivate commensal bacteria which are crucial for human and animal health [1]. These negative effects of antibiotics are most common in gastrointestinal tract (GI) microorganisms which is termed as 'gut microbiome' [1, 2]. The inactivation of commensal bacteria results in gut dysbiosis (disruption to the microbiota homeostasis), which cause many diseases in human and animals [1]. The human gut contains around 400 species of bacteria and maintaining a healthy balance of these microorganisms is crucial for efficient gastrointestinal function [2]. The GI tract/gut is colonized by diverse bacterial phyla such as Bacteroidota, Bacillota, Actinomycetota, Pseudomoadota and Verrucomicrobia. The GI tract's microbial density and diversity were found to be greatest in the cecum and colon [2]. The colon contains the majority of microorganisms, reaching 3-fold more than the microorganisms inhabiting in the small intestine and with diverse bacteria genera mainly in ileum and colon, Enterococcus, Bacteroides, Bifidobacteria, Peptococcus, Peptosteptococc, Ruminococcus, Clostridia, and Lactobacilli [3]. These bacterial genera are severely affected by the use of antibiotics, which may cause a variety of changes in the gut microbiome (i.e., gut dysbiosis).

Overuse of antibiotic promotes colonization of *Clostridium difficile*, an opportunistic pathogen causing antibiotic-associated diarrhea (AAD) [4]. AAD has been associated with altered gastrointestinal tract microbiota, decreased short chain fatty acid (SCFA) metabolism, luminal carbohydrate accumulation, subsequent pH changes, decreased water absorption, and, finally, diarrhea [4]. AAD is more than an unwanted adverse effect of antibiotic therapy; it is associated with prescription noncompliance and overuse of second-line antibiotics [4]. Almost all antibiotic types such as broad and narrow spectrum have been linked to AAD, but those with broad-spectrum coverage in particular ampicillin, cephalosporins, fluoroquinolones, amoxicillin, extended-coverage penicillin, and clindamycin are known to be the most common ones [5]. Several studies have shown that amoxicillin-clavulanate (AMC) is the most common antibiotic that caused high incidence of AAD [5, 6]. AMC proportionally reduced bacteria such as Bifidobacteria, Lactobacilli and Clostridia and ultimately cause the diarrhea (AAD) especially in the infants [4, 5, 6].

The treatment of AAD which is caused by *C. difficile* requires antibiotic therapy with glycopeptides (vancomycin) or metronidazole in more severe instances [5]. Another strategy for treating or preventing AAD is to use of non-pathogenic living microorganisms capable of reestablishing the intestinal ecosystem's homeostasis [5]. Numerous organisms, including selected strains of *Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus bulgaricus, Bifidobacterium longum, Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis* BB-12, *Enterococcus faecium*, and yeast such as *Saccharomyces boulardii* have been utilized in the treatment or prevention of AAD [1, 5].

Additionally, AAD not only affects the gut microbiome but also reduces the proportion of important metabolites such as SCFA [2, 5]. Therefore, restoring metabolic function, including SCFA generation by the microbiota, may be one strategy for mitigating AAD. Few studies have examined the effect of probiotics on the structure and function of the gut microbiota community, particularly in the setting of antibiotic-induced abnormalities [2]. As a result, well-designed experiments assessing these endpoints with well-characterized probiotics are critical for furthering mechanistic understanding of probiotic action in ameliorating AAD symptoms [2].

Overall, AAD can cause community-wide microbiota perturbations due to the broad spectrum of antibiotics. Specifically, AMC causes repression of protective microbiota by promoting the growth of harmful indigenous bacteria, which may manifest clinical symptoms of AAD in susceptible individuals [4, 5].

#### 2. Antibiotic mediated effects:

#### 2.1.Gut Microbiome

Antibiotics can have a direct or indirect effect on the gut microbiome. Antibiotics are administered purposely to eradicate pathogenic bacteria; nevertheless, due to their broad-spectrum activity, subsets of commensal species are also killed or suppressed indiscriminately [7]. Notably, different antibiotics or their combinations have distinct antimicrobial spectra and hence affect the microbiome differently. For example, vancomycin reduces fecal microbial diversity and the absolute proportion of gram-positive bacteria, most notably those belonging to the Firmicutes phylum, whereas amoxicillin has no discernible effect on total bacterial numbers or microbial diversity [7]. Not only did a combination of antibiotics containing ampicillin, gentamicin, metronidazole, neomycin, and vancomycin significantly reduce the total number of bacteria in the gut, but it also significantly altered the composition of the gut microbiota. Thus, when we utilize antibiotics to investigate the impact of microbiota on host health, we must first choose appropriate medicines and understand how the antibiotics chosen will alter the gut microbiome [7].

Antibiotic therapy reduces the alpha diversity of the gut microbiome [1,7]. A seminal study in three healthy persons showed that five days of a normal dose (500 mg/BID) ciprofloxacin had a substantial effect on approximately one-third of the bacterial taxa detected in the study [1]. Additionally, antibiotic exposure in newborns and early children may have a profound effect on the microbiota at important developmental stages. For example, at 4 weeks of age, the microbiomes of infants exposed to ampicillin and gentamicin perinatally demonstrated a decrease in *Actinobacteria* species (*Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus*) and an increase in *Proteobacteria* and continued to show a decrease in the alpha diversity of these species at 8 weeks of age [1]. Bokulich *et al.*, 2016 showed that early antibiotic treatment in children for first two year of life resulted in a decrease in the intestinal microbiome's alpha diversity and specific reductions in the *Clostridium* and *Ruminococcus* species [8] Additionally, they demonstrated that early antibiotic exposure impairs the stability and maturation of the gut microbiome [8]. Similarly, another continuous cohort of infants from birth to age 3 showed a decrease in the alpha diversity of their microbiota after exposure to AMC [1]. Additionally, they demonstrated that the species identified in the microbiota of infants exposed to antibiotics were dominated by a single strain rather than by several strains of the same species. These results were similar to the previous study, those individuals had a deficiency of *Clostridium* species [1].

All in all, most of the broad-spectrum antibiotics can cause AAD, but AMC is one of the important antibiotics with highest rate (>75% cases of diarrhea with *C. difficile*). AMC is made of amoxicillin and clavulanic acid [9]. Amoxicillin is one of the most commonly used antibiotics in the primary care setting. It is an amino penicillin, created by adding an extra amino group to penicillin to battle antibiotic resistance. Amoxicillin is in the class of beta-lactam antimicrobials. Beta-lactams act by binding to penicillin-binding proteins that inhibit a process called transpeptidation (the cross-linking process in cell wall synthesis), leading to activation of autolytic enzymes in the bacterial cell wall. This process leads to lysis of the cell wall, thus destroying the bacterial cell [9]. This mechanism is applicable to kill the microorganism which cause disease in animals and humans.

Amoxicillin is active against both gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria, including Enterococcus species, Listeria monocytogenes, Streptococcus spp., Haemophilus influenzae, Moraxella catarrhalis, Corynebacterium diphtheria, Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Salmonella spp., Shigella spp., and Borrelia species. Additionally, the inclusion of clavulanic acid broadens the spectrum to methicillin-sensitive Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA), Neisseria species, Proteus species, Pasteurella multocida, and Capnocytophaga canimorsus, etc. [10]. This combination of amoxicillin clavulanate primarily increases in Enterobacteria with varying effects bacteria spp. such as Bifidobacterium, Lactobacillus, and Bacteroides., as well as a general decrease in diversity [10]. Many studies showed the high impacts of AMC or amoxicillin (alone) on gut microbiome. For instance, Kabbani. T.A et. al., 2017 reported AMC usage was correlated with a decrease in the prevalence of the species Roseburia and an increase in the prevalence of Escherichia, Parabacteroides, and Enterobacter. Microbiota changes returned to baseline levels after two weeks following therapy but were not totally restored [11].

Mangin *et al.*, 2020 [4] investigated AMC effects on acute bronchitis in 18-month-old children. Both overall bacteria and Bifidobacteria counts remained constant throughout antibiotic therapy. However, alterations at the species level in Bifidobacterium indicated a decline in diversity. Amoxicillin treatment eliminated the *Bifidobacterium adolescentis* species and significantly reduced the occurrence rate of *Bifidobacterium bifidum* but had no effect on *Bifidobacterium longum* or *Bifidobacterium pseudocatenulatum*, *Bifidobacterium catenulatum*. However, they did not examine the long-term impacts [12]. Similarly, Lode. H. 2001, *et. al.* reported that AMC administration to healthy individuals increased the frequency of enterococci and *Escherichia coli* strains in the aerobic microflora, but decreased *Bifidobacteria*, *Lactobacilli*, and *Clostridia* 

strains. There were no significant changes in the numbers of anaerobic cocci and Bacteroides [12].

#### 2.2 Bacterial metabolites

Metabolomic analysis is capable of detecting and identifying a large number of small molecules present in biological samples, allowing for the evaluation of both microbial and hostderived metabolites [14]. Feces may provide a more accurate representation of the direct microbial metabolic products produced in the gut than serum metabolites, which represent metabolites that eventually enter the systemic circulation and may have a bigger effect on the host [14]. Antibiotics also affect host immunity by modifying bacterial metabolites and signals transferred from the gut microbiota to the host, most notably those detected by intestinal epithelial and immune cells [7]. Antibiotics have been shown to have a dramatic effect on lipids, bile acids, amino acids, and amino acid-related compound concentration, according to metabonomic study [7]. Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) are generated in the large intestine by bacteria during the fermentation of fiber. Secondary bile acids effectively suppress Clostridium difficile, a spore-forming grampositive anaerobic bacteria that is the main cause of antibiotic-associated diarrhea [7]. Cefoperazone, clindamycin, and vancomycin combination is associated to the loss of the Lachnospiraceae, and Ruminococcaceae families and a decreased ability of conversion of primary bile acids to secondary bile acids in the large intestine, hence raising the risk of *C. difficile* infection [7]. Otherwise, antibiotic-induced changes in 6 to 8 weeks old mice in amino acids, particularly proline, have been implicated with C. difficile colonization [7].

Antibiotic AMC showed more effect on fecal metabolomics compared to other antibiotics. In 2-day-old newborns, a combination of ampicillin and gentamycin resulted in decreased fecal amounts of GABA, tryptophan, and ornithine [15]. Another study in 1-week-old newborns found that a combination of several beta-lactam antibiotics such as AMC resulted in decreased fecal concentrations of metabolomics generated by bacteria [7, 15]. AMC therapy has been projected to change between 4.4% and 87% of known fecal end metabolic products in humans [15].

#### 3. Effects of Antibiotic associated diarrhea (AAD):

#### 3.1 Strategies, evidence and mechanism of action

Antibiotic-associated diarrhea (AAD) occurs in association with the administration of antibiotics and is one of the most common adverse effects of antibiotics administration in human [12]. Numerous enteric pathogens have been linked to AAD. Overgrowth of *Clostridium difficile (C. difficile)* is the bacterial agent most frequently associated with AAD [12]. *C. difficile* diarrhea most frequently affects elderly, immunocompromised, hospitalized adults, although it can also affect youngsters [13]. AAD can occur in up to one-third of individuals using a given antibiotic, but the prevalence and severity of AAD varies per drug. Cephradine + gentamycin sulfate caused more severe diarrhea in mice than lincomycin hydrochloride + ampicillin sodium or ceftriaxone sodium + erythromycin lactobionate. Numerous investigations concluded that AAD was mostly caused by antibiotic-induced alterations or dysbiosis in microbial composition and activity [13].

AAD has detrimental effects on gastrointestinal tract homeostasis, as indicated by the following: (a) a decrease in the total population and biodiversity of the gut microbiota; and (b) a decrease in short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) synthesis [13]. Another possible outcome of AAD is that beneficial metabolic activities of gut microorganisms are inhibited. Global alterations in the composition and quantity of the gut microbiota (even in the absence of pathogenic microbe overgrowth) might cause global colonic metabolism to be perturbed, resulting in AAD [16].

Antibiotic-associated diarrhea can also be caused by other enteric infections, the direct actions of antimicrobial drugs on the intestinal mucosa, and the metabolic repercussions of lower concentrations of fecal microbiome. *Salmonella, C. perfringens type A, Staphylococcus aureus*, and perhaps *Candida albicans* are additional enteric infections that can cause diarrhea. Recently, a distinct genotype has been linked to antibiotic-associated diarrhea [17]. Infection with either subtype results in diarrhea that typically disappears within 24 hours. There is no specific treatment, and few laboratories offer the essential diagnostic tests to diagnose this infection.

Antibiotics may significantly reduce the concentration of typically prevalent fecal anaerobes. As a result, the metabolism of carbohydrates may decrease, resulting in osmotic diarrhea, and the rate of breakdown of primary bile acids, which are powerful colonic secretion agents, may decrease. These both mechanisms are clearly established as a cause of AAD according to many studies [18].

#### 3.2 AAD caused by AMC

AMC is a commonly recommended antibiotic, particularly for infants and teenagers [4]. These two compounds are frequently used in combination to treat a variety of pediatric infectious disorders, including respiratory disease, sinusitis, urinary tract infections, and skin and soft tissue infections [19]. The combination of a  $\beta$ -lactam class of antimicrobial, amoxicillin, combined with a  $\beta$ -lactamase inhibitor, clavulanic acid, has been characterized to have bactericidal effects against bacteria that secrete  $\beta$ -lactamase [19,20]. The use of broad-spectrum antibiotics and anti-

microbials, such as AMC, has been widely established to disrupt the community-wide microbiota, suppressing beneficial bacteria while promoting the growth of harmful indigenous bacteria, which may manifest clinical symptoms of AAD in susceptible individuals [20].

Young and Schmidt examined the short-term effects of amoxicillin/clavulanic acid on a male patient with acute sinusitis who had antibiotic-associated diarrhea. It was demonstrated that, with the exception of *Bifidobacterium*, the major bacterial groups were partially restored 14 days following antibiotic therapy [16]. No sequences belonging to butyrate-producing Clostrid-ium cluster XIV a were identified during antibiotic therapy, but this cluster reappeared two weeks after drugs were stopped. The decrease in this cluster in this case study may be a result of antibiotic-associated diarrhea [16].

#### 4. AAD treatments

#### 4.1 Prevention and treatment options for AAD

In mild to severe cases of AAD, rehydration and cessation of the triggering drug or substitute are critical first steps. If necessary, antibiotics with a low risk of causing diarrhea such as quinolones, metronidazole, co-trimoxazole, parenteral aminoglycosides, or tetracyclines can be used [19]. However, any antibiotic therapy may alter the normal equilibrium of the intestinal microorganism with a potential of pathogenic organisms emerging and an abnormal growth of *C*. *difficile*. The theory of live microbes may have a role in the treatment or prevention of AAD has been demonstrated by the introduction of many 'physiologic' non-pathogenic organisms [19]

They are referred to as 'probiotics' or 'biotherapeutic agents' and are described as "live bacteria that confer a health benefit on the host when administered in sufficient doses". Many randomized controlled clinical trials have been conducted to examine the beneficial effect of probiotics on gut health in a variety of illnesses (antibiotic-associated and viral diarrhea, irritable bowel syndrome, necrotizing enterocolitis, and others) [22]. While there are robust clinical trials documenting the efficacy of some probiotics in preventing AAD, the mechanism(s) of how probiotics prevent AAD are unclear [22]. Enhancing metabolic function, including SCFA generation by the microbiota, may be one approach for mitigating AAD.

Bacteria spp., notably *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* or *Saccharomyces boulardii*, and fecal microbiota transplantation have been shown to be useful in preventing or treating AAD. Advances in the understanding of microbial features may pave the way for the development of treatments that specifically target the gut microbiota in the prevention and treatment of AAD [16].

#### 4.2 Probiotics for AAD

Probiotics are frequently advised during antibiotic use regarded to potentially reduce the risk of AAD. Numerous bacterial species, including members of the *Bacillus, Bifidobacterium, Clostridium, Lactobacillus, Lactococcus, Leuconostoc*, and *Streptococcus* genera, have been examined in clinical investigations for their ability to mitigate AAD [22]. Additionally, the yeast *Saccharomyces boulardii* has also investigated in clinical studies for AAD prevention [20, 22]. A Cochrane review published in 2019 identified 33 randomized clinical trials with 6,352 participants fulfilling the inclusion criteria [22]. Probiotics were found to have a considerable beneficial effect on AAD prevention (number needed to treat for an additional beneficial outcome (NNTB), 95 % confidence interval (CI) 7 to 13). Consistent with a previous Cochrane review (2015), when 5 billion colony forming units (CFUs)/day were consumed, the risk ratio of getting AAD was dramatically lowered. 5–40 billion CFU/day of *L. rhamnosus* or *S. boulardii*, the two most

often used species, were suggested to be the most effective for avoiding AAD in children receiving antibiotics. Nonetheless, the Cochrane analysis assigned a moderate level of assurance to the evidence due to minor concerns about bias and inconsistency amongst probiotic strains utilized [22].

Another study demonstrated that supplemented probiotics during *Helicobacter (H.) pylori* treatment demonstrated a reduction in antibiotic-induced alterations, with larger shifts in the microbiota in the antibiotic-only group. The same research team also demonstrated that the shift in functional gene families was greater in the antibiotics group than in the probiotics group. This protection of the microbiota has been examined in a few BB-12 studies [23].

# 4.3 *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. *lactis* (BB-12) persistence in the GI tract and AAD prevention

Probiotics are a common dietary strategy for modulating gut microbiota, as they are widely considered safe for human consumption. Members of the genus Bifidobacterium are widely utilized as probiotics due to their capacity to prevent and treat a wide variety of gastroin-testinal problems in animals and humans, including colonic transit disorders and intestinal infections [24]. *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. lactis BB-12 (BB-12) is the most well-documented probiotic species in the genus *Bifidobacterium* because it exhibits superior gastric acid and bile tolerance, contains bile salt hydrolases, and has strong mucus adhesion properties all of which are desirable probiotic characteristics [24]. BB-12 has been used successfully in a variety of clinical trials on infants, children, adults, and the elderly, and numerous beneficial effects have been reported, including the management of infantile colic, the improvement of the immune system, the reduction of the risk of infections in early childhood, and the rebalancing of the disturbed gut

microbiota caused by severe acute malnutrition [22]. Additionally, BB-12 has been incorporated into dietary supplements, fermented milk products, and newborn formulas throughout the world [24].

*Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. *lactis* BB-12 showed promising results to reduce AAD. In 343 patients undergoing a seven-day antibiotic therapy, a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled research examined the efficacy of BB-12 and LA-5 in preventing AAD [23]. Fourteen days of intervention were assessed using a symptom diary card for AAD. After 14 days of treatment, the incidence of AAD was considerably reduced in the probiotic group to 10.8%, compared to 15.56% in the placebo group. The probiotic group experienced considerably less diarrhea (2.32 days) than the placebo group (4.58 days). Severe diarrhea was substantially more common in the placebo group than in the probiotic group. These findings indicate that BB-12 and LA-5 have the potential to significantly lessen the duration and severity of AAD [24].

In one study, patients being treated for *H. pylori* were randomized to receive placebo or probiotic supplemented yogurt with BB-12 and *Lactobacillus acidophilus* LA-5. After antibiotic treatment both groups observed depletion of bifidobacteria in stools, but the probiotic group showed restored levels of bifidobacteria in four weeks compared to the placebo group [22, 23]. One way in which BB-12 may minimize antibiotic-induced disruption of the microbiota is by protecting an intact mucus layer and epithelial cell lining in the gastrointestinal tract. In vitro studies have demonstrated that fermentation products from BB-12 increase tight junction strength compared to controls and other probiotic strains.

Bifidobacterium lactis strain Bb12® is a probiotic bacterium that is commonly found in probiotic yogurt. Probiotic yogurt containing this microbe has been shown to have anti-diabetic effects, including decreased blood LDL-cholesterol in type 2 diabetes patients, increased HDL

cholesterol in adult women, and enhanced glucose tolerance during pregnancy [23]. In addition, Bb12® treatment has been demonstrated to increase faecal secretory IgA excretion in premature newborns. Probiotic health claims have been proved with varied levels of proof, with only a few being supported by double blind randomized controlled trials [22, 23].

#### 4.4 Mechanistic basis for AAD prevention

One of the most common indications for probiotic treatment is the prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea (AAD). Data from several studies are consistent with the notion that antibiotic-induced disruption of commensal bacteria in the colon results in a significant reduction of short chain fatty acid (SCFA) production and a concomitant reduction in Na-dependent fluid absorption resulting in AAD. Probiotics were shown to prevent AAD in numerous clinical trials. According to Marco. M *et al.*, 2020, probiotics reduce the risk for AAD via modulating the gut microbiota, altering nutrient and bile acid metabolism, inducing epithelial solute transporter activity, supporting intestinal barrier function, and influencing the immune system [22].

Numerous mechanisms by which probiotics can influence the makeup of the gut microbiome have been explored previously. Specific molecular processes include the suppression of intestinal pathogens by producing antimicrobial chemicals, competitive exclusion via the use of limited nutrient resources or adhesion to the epithelium, and promotion of indigenous microbial activity. Probiotic metabolic byproducts may be absorbed by members of the gut microbiota through cross-feeding interactions [22, 25]. For example, in a model of the human intestinal microbial ecology, a propionogenic bacterial consortia was recently found to recover fecal propionate levels and modify bacterial composition following antibiotic treatment (M-SHIME) [22].

SCFA is one the important metabolites which is reduced in AAD cases. SCFA are rapidly absorbed by the colon and stimulate Na- dependent fluid absorption via a cyclic AMP-independent process with Na-H, SCFA-HCO3, and Cl-SCFA exchanges. Therefore, restoration of the SCFA is very important in the treatment and prevention of AAD. There are several lines of evidence that illustrated that probiotics help to restore SCFA by the production of organic acids such as lactate and acetate or by providing a more hospitable environment for SCFA producing bacteria [20].

Antibiotics interfere with intestinal mechanism and increase colonic primary bile acids, which are chemicals that block epithelial ion transport proteins [24]. Reduced levels of secondary bile acids changed by bacteria also enhance susceptibility to *C. difficile* infection. Probiotics have been found to modify the composition of bile acids in healthy volunteers fed *S. boulardii* CNCM I-745. Individuals receiving amoxicillin-clavulanate had increased amounts of cholic acid, a major bile acid, and lower levels of secondary bile acids in their feces. In individuals treated with *S. boulardii* CNCM I-745, these alterations were reversed [24, 20]

All in all, probiotics strains are very important in the prevention of the AAD.

#### 5. Ongoing clinical study

The current mice study was based on a clinical study of Daniel Merenstein *et. al.*, 2020, where they completed two Phase I trials with a probiotic yogurt fortified with *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. lactis BB-12 (BB-12). They are currently conducting a Phase II, double-blind, randomized-controlled trial of this yogurt product on 300 children ages 3-12 taking prescription antibiotics for a respiratory tract infection. The present study advanced this Phase II clinical trial, because it addressed whether consuming BB-12 in yogurt was more effective at reducing risk for

AAD than in a dietary supplement format (powder). This study also aimed to elucidate the underlying mechanisms of BB-12 benefits on gut health.

## 6. Objective of the present study

AAD is defined as clinically unexplained diarrhea that occurs in connection with antibiotic administration. To ameliorate and prevent AAD, probiotics supplementation is considered to be an attractive therapeutic strategy. *Bifidobacterium animalis subspecies lactis* BB-12 is a safe and well-tolerated strain that has a long history of use as a probiotic and is currently under investigation for the capacity to prevent AAD in children taking antibiotics. However, it is not yet clear exactly how consumption of BB-12 or other probiotics can prevent AAD. It is also not known whether the carrier matrix in which probiotics are consumed influences its efficacy. To better understand how *B. lactis* BB-12 alters intestinal function to prevent AAD, this study investigated the effects of feeding the BB-12 strain to mice administered the antibiotic amoxicillinclavulanate (AMC). To investigate the effects of different delivery formats, BB-12 was provided to the mice in either yogurt or a supplement (freeze-dried powder) format.

## References

- 1. Yang, L., Bajinka, O., Jarju, P. O., Tan, Y., Taal, A. M., & Ozdemir, G. (2021). The varying effects of antibiotics on gut microbiota. AMB Express, 11(1), 116. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13568-021-01274-w
- 2. Rehman, H. U., Vahjen, W., Awad, W. A., and Zentek, J. (2007). Indigenous bacteria and bacterial metabolic products in the gastrointestinal tract of broiler chickens. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 61, 319–335. doi: 10.1080/17450390701556817.
- 3. The Gut Microbiome and its Impact on the Brain. (2020). University of Toronto. https://med.libretexts.org/@go/page/10659
- I. Mangin, A. Suau, M. Gotteland, O. Brunser, P. Pochart. (2010). Amoxicillin treatment modifies the composition of Bifidobacterium species in infant intestinal microbiota, Anaerobe, Volume 16, Issue 4, Pages 433-438, ISSN 1075-9964, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2010.06.005.
- 5. McFarland L. V. (2008). Antibiotic-associated diarrhea: epidemiology, trends and treatment. Future microbiology, 3(5), 563–578. https://doi.org/10.2217/17460913.3.5.563
- Moubareck, C., Gavini, F., Vaugien, L., Butel, M. J., & Doucet-Populaire, F. (2005). Antimicrobial susceptibility of bifidobacteria. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy, 55(1), 38–44. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkh495
- Zhang, S., & Chen, D. C. (2019). Facing a new challenge: the adverse effects of antibiotics on gut microbiota and host immunity. Chinese medical journal, 132(10), 1135–1138. https://doi.org/10.1097/CM9.0000000000245
- Bokulich, N. A., Chung, J., Battaglia, T., Henderson, N., Jay, M., Li, H., D Lieber, A., Wu, F., Perez-Perez, G. I., Chen, Y., Schweizer, W., Zheng, X., Contreras, M., Dominguez-Bello, M. G., & Blaser, M. J. (2016). Antibiotics, birth mode, and diet shape microbiome maturation during early life. Science translational medicine, 8(343), 343ra82. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aad7121
- 9. Evans J, Hannoodee M, Wittler M. (2022) Amoxicillin Clavulanate. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls.
- 10. Benninger MS. (2003). Amoxicillin/clavulanate potassium extended-release tablets: a new antimicrobial for the treatment of acute bacterial sinusitis and community-acquired pneumonia. Expert Opin Pharmacother.
- Kabbani, T. A., Pallav, K., Dowd, S. E., Villafuerte-Galvez, J., Vanga, R. R., Castillo, N. E., Hansen, J., Dennis, M., Leffler, D. A., & Kelly, C. P. (2017). Prospective randomized controlled study on the effects of Saccharomyces boulardii CNCM I-745 and amoxicillin-clavulanate or the combination on the gut microbiota of healthy volunteers. Gut microbes, 8(1), 17–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2016.1267890
- Elvers, K. T., Wilson, V. J., Hammond, A., Duncan, L., Huntley, A. L., Hay, A. D., & van der Werf, E. T. (2020). Antibiotic-induced changes in the human gut microbiota for the most commonly prescribed antibiotics in primary care in the UK: a systematic review. BMJ open, 10(9), e035677. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-035677

- Shao, H., Zhang, C., Xiao, N. et al. (2020). Gut microbiota characteristics in mice with antibiotic-associated diarrhea. BMC Microbiol 20, 313. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-020-01999-x
- 14. Antunes, L.C., Han, J., Ferreira, R., Lolić, P., Borchers, C.H., & Finlay, B.B. (2011). Effect of Antibiotic Treatment on the Intestinal Metabolome. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 55, 1494 1503.
- Patton, L., Li, N., Garrett, T. J., Ruoss, J. L., Russell, J. T., de la Cruz, D., Bazacliu, C., Polin, R. A., Triplett, E. W., & Neu, J. (2020). Antibiotics Effects on the Fecal Metabolome in Preterm Infants. Metabolites, 10(8), 331. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo10080331
- Young, V. B., & Schmidt, T. M. (2004). Antibiotic-associated diarrhea accompanied by largescale alterations in the composition of the fecal microbiota. Journal of clinical microbiology, 42(3), 1203–1206. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.42.3.1203-1206.2004
- 17. Sparks, S. G., Carman, R. J., Sarker, M. R., & McClane, B. A. (2001). Genotyping of enterotoxigenic Clostridium perfringens fecal isolates associated with antibiotic-associated diarrhea and food poisoning in North America. Journal of clinical microbiology, 39(3), 883–888. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.39.3.883-888.2001
- Gustafsson, A., Berstad, A., Lund-Tønnesen, S., Midtvedt, T., & Norin, E. (1999). The effect of faecal enema on five microflora-associated characteristics in patients with antibiotic-associated diarrhoea. Scandinavian journal of gastroenterology, 34(6), 580–586. https://doi.org/10.1080/003655299750026038
- Bergogne-Bérézin E. (2000). Treatment and prevention of antibiotic associated diarrhea. International journal of antimicrobial agents, 16(4), 521–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0924-8579(00)00293-4
- 20. Klein JO. (2003). Amoxicillin/clavulanate for infections in infants and children: past, present and future. Pediatr Infect Dis J 22:S139–S148. doi:10.1097/00006454-200308001-00005.
- Pérez-Cobas, A. E., Artacho, A., Knecht, H., Ferrús, M. L., Friedrichs, A., Ott, S. J., Moya, A., Latorre, A., & Gosalbes, M. J. (2013). Differential effects of antibiotic therapy on the structure and function of human gut microbiota. PloS one, 8(11), e80201. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0080201
- 22. Mekonnen, S. A., Merenstein, D., Fraser, C. M., & Marco, M. L. (2020). Molecular mechanisms of probiotic prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea. Current opinion in biotechnology, 61, 226–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2020.01.00
- Kabeerdoss, J., Devi, R.S., Mary, R.R. et al. (2011). Effect of yoghurt containing Bifidobacterium lactis Bb12<sup>®</sup> on faecal excretion of secretory immunoglobulin A and human beta-defensin 2 in healthy adult volunteers. Nutr J 10, 138. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2891-10-138
- Mao, K., Gao, J., Wang, X., Li, X., Geng, S., Zhang, T., Sadiq, F. A., & Sang, Y. (2022). Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis BB-12 Has Effect Against Obesity by Regulating Gut Microbiota in Two Phases in Human Microbiota-Associated Rats. Frontiers in nutrition, 8, 811619. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2021.811619
- 25. Derrien M, van Hylckama Vlieg JET. (2015). Fate, activity, and impact of ingested bacteria within the human gut microbiota. Trends Microbiol, 23:354–366.
- 26. Kelly, C. P., Chong Nguyen, C., Palmieri, L. J., Pallav, K., Dowd, S. E., Humbert, L., Seksik, P., Bado, A., Coffin, B., Rainteau, D., Kabbani, T., & Duboc, H. (2019). Saccharomyces bou-

lardii CNCM I-745 Modulates the Fecal Bile Acids Metabolism During Antimicrobial Therapy in Healthy Volunteers. Frontiers in microbiology, 10, 336. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.00336

## **CHAPTER 2**

Effect of amoxicillin clavulanate on the intestinal microbiota and metabolomes of mice ad-

ministered yogurt and *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. lactis BB-12

#### 1. Introduction

Antibiotic-associated diarrhea (AAD) is a common and challenging side effect of antibiotic use [1]. AAD is defined as clinically unexplained diarrhea that occurs in connection with antibiotic administration [2]. Although AAD is usually a benign, self-limiting disorder, it may lead to persistent infections with *Clostridium difficile* and other bacterial species, such as *Clostridium perfringens*, *Klebsiella oxytoca*, and *Staphylococcus aureus* [3].

To ameliorate and prevent AAD, probiotics supplementation is considered as an attractive therapeutic strategy. Probiotics are live microorganisms that, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host [4]. Clinical studies have shown a role for probiotics in preventing AAD [5]. A recent comprehensive Cochrane review of probiotics for the prevention of pediatric AAD showed that probiotics confer a moderate beneficial effect for AAD prevention (number needed to treat for an additional beneficial outcome (NNTB) 9, 95% CI 7-13) [6]. In a recent American Gastroenterological Association (AGA) clinical practice guidelines on the role of probiotics in the management of gastrointestinal disorders, the use of certain probiotic strains of lactobacilli, bifidobacteria, and *Saccharomyces* was also recommended for prevention of *C. difficile* infection for adults and children on antibiotic treatment [7].

Thus far, only few studies investigated the mechanistic basis for probiotic prevention of AAD [8]. These studies have shown that probiotics can reduce antibiotic-induced changes in gut microbiome as well as directly affect intestinal epithelial and immune cell function to prevent AAD [8]. However, the precise mechanistic details for probiotic effects remain to be determined. Moreover, because probiotics are consumed in different carrier matrices (e.g., fermented foods, dietary supplements), investigations of probiotic effects on AAD may also need to take carrier matrix into account [9].

*Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis* BB-12 is a safe and well-tolerated strain that has a long history of use as a probiotic in infant formula, dietary supplements, and fermented milk products [10]. BB-12 survives passage through the human digestive tract [11]. The colonization, although temporary, has been established through extended recovery of BB-12 from feces for up to two weeks post-consumption, supporting that BB-12 can persist in the intestine [12,13]. Human studies have indicated that BB-12 can induce immunoregulatory gene expression [14,15] and alter the composition of the gut microbiota [16]. Studies performed *in vitro* also reported that BB-12 can adhere to intestinal cells and inhibit intestinal pathogen growth [17], and BB-12 fermentation products may increase intestinal tight junctions' expression compared to other probiotic strains [18].

The capacity of BB-12 to impact host physiological responses was shown in numerous human studies [10]. Although published reports showing AAD prevention are limited to two human studies on multi-strain preparations, both studies reported a significant reduction in AAD incidence [18]. To better understand how BB-12 alters intestinal function to prevent AAD, this study investigated the effects of BB-12 administration on mice given the antibiotic amoxicillinclavulanate (AMC) in accordance with an ongoing clinical study investigating the ability of BB-12 to impact antibiotic-induced reductions in SCFA (NCT04414722) [19]. AMC was used because it is frequently prescribed for children with upper respiratory infections [8]. To investigate the effects of different delivery formats, BB-12 was provided to mice in either yogurt or saline from a freeze-dried powder in comparison with mice fed yogurt or saline alone.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Preparation and enumeration of *B. lactis* BB-12 freeze-dried powder

Freeze-dried B. lactis BB-12 (BB-12) cells were provided by Chr. Hansen (Chr. Hansen A/S, Hoersholm, Denmark) and stored at -20°C. Viable, freeze-dried BB-12 cells were enumerated according to a protocol recommended by Chr. Hansen (personal communication Dr. Mirjana Curic-Bawden). Briefly, 500 mg of freeze-dried BB-12 powder was thawed for two hours at 23°C before being suspended in 2.5 mL physiologic saline (0.9 % NaCl). The suspension was then transferred into a Whirl-Pak bag (Nasco, Fort Atkinson, WI) and mixed twice in a Smasher (AES BioMerieux, Durham, NC) at the fast speed setting for 2 min each time. The samples were then incubated for 20 min at 23°C prior to repeating the mixing for 2 min twice at the fast speed setting. Serial dilutions were plated on De Man, Rogosa and modified Sharpe (MRS) (Fisher Scientific, BD) agar with cysteine, and viable cell numbers were enumerated after 48 h incubation at 37°C under anaerobic conditions in a GasPak jar (Becton, Dickinson and Company, NJ). For daily preparation of freeze-dried BB-12 cells for mouse consumption, cell suspensions from freeze-dried powder were adjusted to a total of 1 x  $10^7$  BB-12 cells in 50 µL in physiologic saline (0.9 % NaCl). Cell numbers administered to the mice were verified by colony forming unit (CFU) enumeration on MRS after 48 h incubation at 37°C under anaerobic conditions.

#### 2.2 Yogurt preparation

Yogurt prepared on three separate dates, i.e., 01/17/2019, 02/06/2019 and 02/28/2019 was received from Pennsylvania State University and stored at 4°C for up to two weeks before use. The yogurt was made using the starter cultures YF-L702, a mixture of *Streptococcus thermophilus* and *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. bulgaricus, as previously described [15]. BB-12 was added at the end of the yogurt fermentation and was confirmed to have at least  $1 \times 10^{10}$  colony forming units per 100 mL serving of BB-12 at the end of the 30-day shelf life [11, 15] The BB-12 and

control yogurts were diluted in saline (0.9 % NaCl) to obtain a total of  $1 \times 10^7$  cells in 50 µL of yogurt for mouse consumption. Cell numbers administered to the mice were verified by colony forming unit (CFU) enumeration on modified MRS with cysteine culture after 48 h incubation at 37°C under anaerobic conditions.

#### 2.3 Mouse study

The study was approved by the University of California, Davis Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) Protocol Number 20474. Six-week-old male and female C57BL6/J mice (Jackson Laboratory, Sacramento, California, USA) were received in three cohorts (10 male and 10 female mice per cohort, total 60 mice). The mice were housed in pairs of the same sex and were maintained on 12 h light- dark cycle with ad hoc access to water and chow (Lab Diet # 5001, Newco Specialty, Hayward, CA) for the duration of the study.

After acclimation for seven days, mice were randomly assigned to one of five groups (n = 6 male and 6 female mice per treatment group). Amoxicillin-clavulanate (1 mg/mL; Neta Scientific Inc, Hainesport, NJ) (AMC) was introduced daily to new drinking water in four groups of mice over 10 days. The AMC dose was consistent used in prior human studies [11, 14]. Starting on the first day of antibiotic administration, each mouse was administered either physiologic saline (0.9% NaCl) (Sal Ab), 10<sup>7</sup> BB-12 cells in saline (BB-12 Ab), yogurt (Yog Ab), or yogurt containing 10<sup>7</sup> BB-12 cells (Yog BB-12 Ab) orally from the tip of a gavage bulb [20]. A fifth group of mice was administered saline but not antibiotics (Controls, Con).

Mouse weight and water intake were measured every 24 h. Freshly expelled fecal samples were collected immediately prior to the initiation of antibiotic administration (t = 0), and then after 1, 5, and 10 days of the study. Fecal samples were frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen and stored

at -80 °C until further processing. At the time of sacrifice, the mice were anesthetized under CO<sub>2</sub> prior to blood collection via cardiac puncture and termination was then ensured death by cervical dislocation. Ileal and cecal contents, colonic tissues, and liver were collected, and frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80 °C until further processing.

#### 2.4 Sample preparation for genomic DNA and metabolomic analysis

Cecal genomic DNA and metabolite extractions were conducted on the same day to reduce the impact of freeze-thaw, as reported previously [22]. In brief, approximately 200 mg cecal contents were suspended and homogenized in 1.5 mL ice-cold Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (DPBS, 1X, pH 7.4) followed by vigorous vortexing, incubation on ice for 5 min, and centrifugation at 14,000 ×g for 5 min at 4°C. The resulting pellet and supernatant were used for DNA and metabolite extraction, respectively.

#### 2.5 Genomic DNA extraction

Genomic DNA was extracted from pelleted cecal contents using 200 mg mouse feces using mechanical lysis and phenol-chloroform extraction as described [23]. For extraction of DNA from *B. lactis* BB-12 and *Lactobacillus plantarum* NCIMB8826, the strains were incubated in MRS for 24 h at 37°C prior to DNA extraction from BB-12 as described above. DNA was purified with the Wizard SV gel and PCR Clean-Up system (Promega, Madison, WI) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The DNA concentration was measured with the Qubit 3.0 fluorometer using the Qubit double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) HS assay kit (Life Technologies, Eugene, OR).

#### 2.6 Quantitative PCR for BB-12 and total bacterial cells

The *B. lactis* BB-12 gene encoding elongation factor Tu (*tuf*) was used for BB-12 enumeration using previously described primers, 5'ACAAGCAGATGGATGAGTG3' and 5'AGAA-GAACGGCGAGTGAC3' [21]. Estimates of gene copy numbers were made using primers targeting 5'GTGSTGAYGGYYGTCGTCA3' and 5'ACGTCRTCCMCNCCTTCCTC3' of the 16S rRNA gene [21]. Reactions were performed on an Applied Biosystems 7500 Real-time thermocycler using 0.2 µM of each primer and PowerUp<sup>TM</sup> SYBR<sup>TM</sup> Green Master Mix (Thermo fisher) under the following conditions: 2 min at 50 °C, 2 min at 95 °C, and 40 cycles of 15 sec at 95 °C, 15 sec at 60 °C and 1 min at 72 °C. Standard curves of BB-12 and *L. plantarum* genomic DNA were used to enumerate quantities of *Bifidobacterium* and total 16S rRNA gene copy numbers, respectively, as previously described [22].

#### 2.7 16S rRNA gene amplicon DNA sequencing

PCR amplification of the V4 region of 16S rRNA genes contained in cecal and fecal contents with 30 PCR cycles at 94°C for 45 sec, 54°C for 60 sec, and 72°C for 30 sec was performed as described previously [24]. Briefly, ex-Taq DNA polymerase (TaKaRa, Otsu, Japan) and primers F515 forward (5'-GTGCCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA-3') and R806 reverse (5'-GGAC-TACHVGGGTWTCTAAT-3') primers with a random 8-bp barcode on the 5' end of F515 were used [25]. Negative controls were included for each barcoded primer to confirm primer purity. PCR products were pooled and then gel purified with the Wizard SV gel and PCR clean-up system (Promega, Madison, WI). Ion Torrent S5 libraries were prepared from a pooled amplicons ligated with non-barcoded ion A and Ion P1 adapters. They were prepared by using Ion 510<sup>TM</sup>, 520<sup>TM</sup>, 530<sup>™</sup> Ion Chef Kit (Life Technologies Corporation, A34461) and 530 Chip Kit (Life Technologies Corporation, A27764) for 200 base-read libraries. The prepared libraries were then sequenced on an Ion S5 XL Sequencer (Life Technologies Corporation).

The sequence output BAM file was converted to FASTQ format using BED Tools [26] and reads shorter than 200 bp were removed. Data analyses was performed on the remaining sequences. Specifically, raw FASTQ files were demultiplexed and quality filtered using the Quality Insights into Microbial Ecology 2 (QIIME2) software (version 2019.10) [27]. Demultiplexing was performed using the "demux emp-single" command after barcodes were removed using the "extract\_barcodes.py" command from QIIME software (version 2018.4). Quality filtering was performed using the "deblur denoise-16S" command. After denoising, both sets of samples were rarified for alpha and beta diversity and taxonomic analysis.

The cecal samples were rarefied to a depth of 5,547 and fecal samples were rarefied to a depth 2,871 reads per sample prior to analysis. In total, insufficient read numbers were obtained from five mice for further analysis (cecum: saline (one mouse), yogurt (two mice); feces: BB-12 (two mice)). For taxonomic classification, the QIIME2 naïve Bayes classifier was trained on the SILVA 16S rRNA gene database version 13–8 [28] clustered at 99%. SILVA was used because it provided more accurate assessments of bacterial taxonomy with a mock community compared with the 16S rRNA Database Project [29].

#### 2.8 Metabolome analysis

For metabolite analysis, the supernatant was filtered using a 0.22 m pore size syringe filter (Millex-GP syringe filter, Millipore, Billerica, MA) and then with a filter with a 3 kDa molecular weight cut-off (Amicon ultra centrifugal filter, Millipore, Billerica, MA). An internal standard

(DSS (Disodium-2,2-dimethyl-2-silapentane-5-sulfonate)-d6 in 5 mM, with 0.2% sodium azide in 99.8% D2O) was added to the filtrate and the pH of each sample was adjusted to pH  $6.8 \pm 0.1$  with 1 M and 0.1 M of NaOH and HCl to minimize pH-based peak movement. 180 µL aliquots were subsequently transferred to 3 mm Bruker NMR tubes (Bruker, Brillerica, MA), stored at 4 °C until spectral acquisition. <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra were acquired at 298K using the NOESY <sup>1</sup>H presaturation experiment ('noesypr1d') on Bruker Avance 600 MHz NMR spectrometer (Bruker BioSpin, Germany). Spectral acquisition, processing parameters, and the estimation of metabolites concentration performed as previously described [22].

#### 2.9 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with Prism 7.0 GraphPad Software version 8.0 for Mac (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM unless stated otherwise. Analysis of differences between the different groups were analyzed with the Kruskal-Wallis multiple comparison test followed by Dunn's post hoc analysis, with p values  $\leq$  0.05 considered to be significant. A linear mixed model regression analysis was used to assess the effect of sex on colon length and percentage of body weight change controlling for the potential random variable confounding effect of cohort by using SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA) as described previously [30]. Pearson correlation was used to correlate metadata to the Shannon diversity index. p-values <0.01 were considered statistically significant.

Significant differences in Bray-Curtis and weighted UniFrac distances between the fecal and cecal microbiota were determined with PERMANOVA with pairwise comparisons using the QIIME2 beta-group-significance script. Sample richness/evenness was estimated using the Shannon index, Observed OTU & Faith PD using QIIME2. Unless specified otherwise, microbiome data statistical analyses and figure construction were performed in R version 3.6.2 [31]. Spearman's Rank Correlation Coefficient was used for correlations between the cecal microbiota and metabolome with p adjusted < 0.05 considered significant. PCoA was made based on Euclidian distances using multivariate analysis for cecal metabolome data.

#### 3. Results

## 3.1 Mouse body weights and water intake were affected by amoxicillin-clavulanate (AMC) administration

The body weights of mice given AMC changed over time in a sex-dependent manner irrespective of BB-12 or yog (yogurt) intake. The body weights of male mice given AMC were lower compared to control mice throughout whole study (10 days) (Linear mixed model regression analysis, p<0.05) (**Fig 1A**). This result was not observed in females receiving AMC. Female mice that received yog + Ab (with or without BB-12) gained more body weight compared to mice given only antibiotics (saline + Ab mice) (Two-way ANOVA, p<0.05) (**Fig. 1B**). These changes in body weight were consistent between the three cohorts of mice tested for each treatment group (Twoway ANOVA, p > 0.05) (**Fig 1**).

For the first three days all male and female mice administered AMC (with or without yog and BB-12 fed) on average consumed 2.3-fold less water per day compared to control mice (**Fig. 1C and Fig. 1D**). After day three of the study, their water intake increased and was equivalent to the saline controls for both sexes (**Fig. 1C and Fig. 1D**). With regards to water intake, there were no significant differences between male and female mice and between three cohorts tested (data not shown).

#### **3.2 AAD and yogurt altered the mouse digestive tract**

Although there were no differences in stool consistency with AMC administration (data not shown) and colon lengths were not affected in the AMC controls, mice given AMC had enlarged ceca, irrespective of treatment (**Suppl Fig. 1**). Amongst mice given yogurt (with or without BB-12), the colon lengths were significantly longer compared to controls to which no antibiotics were administered (Two-way ANNOVA, p <0.05) (**Suppl Fig. 2**). Sex differences and cohort effects were not found between colon lengths of mice (Two-way ANNOVA, P = 0.59).

#### 3.3 Bifidobacterium tuf copy numbers were at or below the detect limit in most mice

qPCR targeting the *tuf* gene encoding elongation factor Tu in *Bifidobacterium* was used for quantification of bifidobacteria and BB-12 in the mouse cecal and fecal contents. Bifidobacteria were detected in very low and variable numbers (approximately 100 *tuf* gene copy numbers) per gram (**Fig 2**). Notably, bifidobacteria were detected in the saline controls, a finding indicative that the *tuf* primers are not 100 % strain specific [32] (**Fig. 2**). Numbers of *Bifidobacterium* were noticeably significantly higher in the cecal contents of mice given BB-12 in saline (one- way ANNOVA, p<0.05), and were detected at levels 3-fold higher than fecal contents (**Fig. 2D**). There were no significant differences between mouse cohort and sex (one-way ANNOVA, p>0.05).

#### 3.4 AMC caused significant losses in bacterial numbers in the mouse intestine

AMC treatment resulted in at least 3-fold reductions in bacterial cell numbers within one day of administration (p < 0.0005, Two-way ANNOVA) (Fig. 3). Cell numbers, estimated as 16S rRNA gene copy numbers, reduced from  $10^8$  cells/g to  $10^3$  cells/g, irrespective of yogurt or BB-12 administration. Notably, the numbers of bacterial cells were different between three cohorts of mice such that consistent reductions in bacterial amounts occurred only for cohorts two and three

from  $10^8$  cells/g to  $10^3$  cells/g, but not for cohort one which is  $10^8$  cells/g to  $10^5$  cells/g (Fig. 3). These reductions were sustained on day 5 and 10, and in a cohort consistent manner. Cell numbers in cecal contents were higher than in the stools (Fig. 3). The numbers of bacteria in cecal contents decreased by 1.5-fold, from an average +/- 7.5 std dev to average +/- 5.2 std dev among mice given AMC (Fig 3).

#### **3.5** AMC resulted in significant changes to the intestinal microbiota composition

The bacterial composition in the mouse fecal contents was significantly affected by AMC administration, regardless of BB-12 or yogurt consumption (Bray-Curtis diversity; p<0.05, Krus-kal-Wallis test) (**Fig. 4A**). This change occurred within one day of AMC administration (**Fig. 4A**). Bacterial beta-diversity in the cecum was also affected by AMC, and on 5th and 10th day significant differences was observed between the BB-12 and yogurt BB-12 treatment groups. Noticeably, on 10<sup>th</sup> day beta diversity of control was significantly different from all AMC treated mice except for yogurt BB-12 fed mice (**Fig. 4B**, **Suppl. Fig. 3**). Additionally, there was a cohort effect on the cecal and fecal microbiota, where cohort one clustered separately from cohorts two and three, even among saline controls (Kruskal-Wallis, p = 0.0012) (**Fig. 4A**, **Fig. 4B**).

Consistent with the observed differences in bacterial-beta diversity, AMC also impacted bacterial alpha diversity in fecal and cecal contents (Shannon-Index, Faith PD and Observed OTU) (Suppl. Fig. 4 and Suppl. Fig. 5). Alpha diversity declined significantly in the fecal contents within one day after the start of AMC administration and remained low for the remainder of the study (Kruskal- Wallis, p>0.05) (Suppl Fig. 4).

Prior to antibiotic administration, all mice contained high relative abundance of *Muribac-ulaceae, Lactobacillaceae, Lachnospiraceae, Staphylococcaceae, Ruminoccocaceae, Oscillospi-raceae,* and *Rikenellaceae,* comprising, on average, 85% of the fecal microbiota (Suppl Fig. 6). The feces of the saline control mice maintained high relative proportion of these taxa over the course of the ten-day study. The cecal contents of those mice was also mainly comprised of *Staphylococcaceae, Lactobacillaceae, Muribaculaceae, Lachnospiraceae,* and *Ruminoccocaceae* (Suppl. Fig. 9).

After one day on AMC, the proportions of these bacteria declined in all AMC-treated mice, including those receiving BB-12 in either saline or yogurt format (p<0.005, Kruskal-Wallis test) (Suppl Fig. 6). For mice given AMC, the relative proportions of *Acholeplasmataceae*, *Sutterellaceae*, and *Staphylococcaceae* were higher after the first day (Fig. 5). Proportions of *Streptococcaceae* and *Leuconostocaceae* were significantly higher (p > 0.05, Kruskal Wallis) on day 5 (Fig. 5). After ten days of AMC intake, proportions of *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Bacteroidaceae* were higher in the stool compared to the saline (sham) controls (Fig. 5). Similarly, the cecal contents were enriched by *Staphylococcus, Lactobacillus, Muribaculaceae, Lachnospiraceae, Ruminoccocaceae* in control mice, compared with AMC treated mice. However, *Akkermansiaceae*, *Paenibacillaceae, Streptococcaceae* and Clostridiaceae were significantly higher (p > 0.05, Kruskal Wallis) in AMC treated and BB-12 fed mice with or without yog, compared with control mice (Fig. 5).

Differences were observed among three cohorts of mice, with regard to the impacts of AMC on fecal microbiota composition. Cohort one contained significantly higher proportions of Bacteroidota and Actinomycetota, compared with cohorts two and three. These differences were observed in control mice and after one day of AMC administration. Cohort one was enriched by

Bacteroidota and cohorts two and three had significantly higher proportion of Bacillota (Kruskal Wallis, p < 0.05) (Suppl. Fig. 7). No significant cohort effect was observed in Pseudomonadota (Kruskal Wallis, p > 0.05). Consistent with the elevated numbers of *tuf* gene copy numbers in the cecal contents of mice given BB-12 in saline, proportions of *Bifidobacteriaceae* were significantly higher at day 5 feces and day 10 cecal contents of those mice (Kruskal Wallis; p>0.005) (Fig. 5). Proportions of *Muribaculaceae* was not as reduced when BB-12 was consumed in yogurt and saline in fecal content on day 1 and 5 compared with only AMC treated mice with and without yogurt (Kruskal Wallis; p=0.0045) (Suppl fig. 6). In the cecal contents, *Bifidobacteriaceae* was more abundant in BB-12 in powder form (saline) than yog + BB-12 (Suppl Fig. 9). In addition, cohorts' effect was observed where cohort one was significantly different than cohort two and three (Data not shown) similar to fecal microbial community.

#### 3.6 AMC reduced SCFA and altered amino acid concentrations in the mouse cecum.

Multivariate analysis of over 35 metabolites detected in the mice cecal contents showed that AMC resulted in significant changes to the cecal metabolome (One-way ANNOVA, p<0.05) (Fig.6A). Despite significant differences between one of the cohorts compared to the other two (Suppl. Fig. 11), mice given AMC had significant reductions (4.5-fold, on average) of the SCFA acetate, butyrate, and propionate compared to saline administered controls (Fig. 6B). These reductions were also observed for mice given BB-12 in saline or yogurt (Fig. 6B). Similarly, isobutyrate, valerate, isovalerate, inosine, methionine, hypoxanthine, uracil, nicotinate, and taurine were found in lower levels in AMC administered mice (One-way ANNOVA test; p<0.05) (Suppl Fig. 10A). Other metabolites were enriched with AMC intake, including lactate, proline, threonine, pyruvate, creatine, creatinine, arginine, and putrescine (Suppl Fig. 10B).

As found for the intestinal microbiota, mice fed BB-12 also exhibited differences for certain cecal metabolites. All AMC administered groups except for those given BB-12 in yogurt contained higher concentrations of formate, glycine, and glutamine in the cecal contents (One-way ANNOVA test; p<0.05) (**Suppl. Fig. 10**). Compared with mice given BB-12 in saline, mice provided with BB-12 in yogurt contained higher levels of thymine, dimethylamine, fumarate, methyl and lower levels of ornithine, tyramine, acetone, sarcosine, aminobutyrate and hydroxybutyrate (**Suppl. Fig. 10**).

#### 3.7 Cecal metabolites were correlated with specific microbial taxa

SCFA such as acetate, butyrate, propionate, valerate, isobutyrate (BCFA) and other metabolites such as aspartate, inosine, taurine, uridine were highly correlated with the proportions of *Ruminococcaceae*, *Muribaculaceae*, *Lactobacillaceae*, *Akkermansiaeae*, *Anaerovoraceae*, *Bacteroidaceae*, *Rikenellaceae* and *Oscillospiraceae* in the mouse cecum, a finding consistent with the significant reductions in those taxa with AMC intake. SCFA were also negatively correlated with *Erwiniceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae* proportions (**Fig. 7**). Concentrations of the amino acids such as arginine, threonine, glutamine, glycine, proline, and serine were negative correlated with the proportions of *Muribaculaceae*, *Akkermansiaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *Acholeplasmataceae* and *Oscillospiraceae*, (**Fig. 7**).

#### 4 Discussion

Antibiotics are very important drugs for the treatment of various diseases. Despite their importance, these drugs can also cause unwanted negative effects on the composition and function

of normal human and animal microbiome [40]. Probiotics may be able to prevent or reverse antibiotic-induced disruptions to the gut microbiome [40]. In this study we explored the capacity of *Bifidobacterium lactis* BB-12 in different delivery matrices to sustain the gut microbiota and metabolome during AMC intake in three different cohorts of mice. The mixture of amoxicillin and clavulanic acid (AMC) is one of the most frequently prescribed antibiotics in the western world, however it can cause antibiotic associated diarrhea (AAD), especially in infants and adults [3, 40].

In this study, AMC resulted in significant reductions in only male body weight compared to control mice at all time points. While oral antibiotic-treated male mice drink less than control mice, these body changes may not only due to less water intake alone but also depend on microbiome and metabolic changes. In addition, AMC induced inflammation on cecum which is consistent with many studies [41]. Cecal inflammation was observed may be by accumulation of mucus and undigested fibers caused by the absence of gut microbiota [42]. Interestingly, we observed yogurt effect was more dominant than AMC on the mouse colon length may be due to fermented bacteria in yogurt had anti-inflammatory effect on colon which was caused by AMC.

Our 16S rRNA results showed that AMC induced pro-found alterations of the intestinal microbiota consistent with existing data [43], reduced alpha-diversity and reduction in 16S rRNA cell counts, which was observed already within one day of AMC intake. These results are consistent with prior mice study where, gut microbiome changed within sixteen hours after the first dose of antibiotics in mice [47]. AMC is combination of amoxicillin and clavulanate where amoxicillin is the class of beta-lactam antimicrobials and beta-lactams act by binding to penicillin-bind-ing proteins that inhibit a process called transpeptidation (the cross-linking process in cell wall synthesis), leading to activation of autolytic enzymes in the bacterial cell wall. This process leads to lysis of the cell wall, thus destroying the bacterial cell [44]. Therefore, as expected, AMC intake

inhibited Gram-positive bacteria such as Bacillota (formerly called Firmicutes) and Bacteroidota, including families *Lactobacillaceae*, *Muribaculaceae*, *Staphylococcaceae*, *Ruminoccocaceae*, *Oscillospiraceae*, and *Rikenellaceae* families. Conversely, Gram-negative bacteria in the Pseudomonadota (formerly called Proteobacteria) phylum were enriched by AMC intake, which is comprised by facultative and obligative anaerobic bacteria, comprising several known pathogens in humans [45]. Only two families, *Erwiniceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae* of phylum Pseudomonadota significantly enriched maybe they are resistant towards AMC in cecal and fecal contents [46]. This finding is also consistent with prior human and mice studies showing AMC mainly increases in Enterobacteria and anaerobic bacteria such as *Bifidobacterium* sp, *Lactobacillus* sp and clostridia decreased significantly (p <0.05). Also, they found Bacteroides were not markedly altered during the administration period similar to our study findings [46].

Interestingly, we observed changes in the bacterial community was based on the notable cohort and time-dependent differences [46]. Consistent with AMC dominant effect our investigation shown that AMC may eventually result in the eradication of the anaerobes such as phylum Bacillota, Bacteroides and family such as *Bifidobacteriaceae* [48,49]. As the high susceptibility of the Bifidobacterium genus to amoxicillin-clavulanic acid was previously demonstrated in vitro [37, 38], it seems that the microbial community changes occurred during antibiotic administration was based on time points. Members of the normal Bifidobacterium cannot be completely eradicated by this antimicrobial treatment. The antimicrobial effect is probably dose-related, and removal of the antibiotic allows prompt regrowth of their population [50]. Therefore, *Bifidobacteriaceae* were not observed as a dominant family (<5%) even in the BB-12 fed mice. According to many research, yogurt fermentation may influence the survival of BB-12 [50], however, our qPCR quantification results shown that delivery matrix powder form had a greater survival rate than the yogurt form for BB-12 in both cecum and feces which is contrary to many studies [51]. These contrary results observed due to AMC may had strong effects on the yogurt resulting in eradication of almost anaerobic bacteria including BB-12 compared to saline/ powder form.

Furthermore, host-microbiota metabolic interactions are dynamic, so antibiotic-induced changes in the gut microbiota can result in the alteration of host metabolism [52]. SCFAs, being essential bacterial metabolites would bear the brunt of the impact first [53]. Consistent with this, we found that AMC treatments significantly decreased levels of SCFAs, including acetate, butyr-ate, and propionate however, the level of formate, another SCFA, showed an opposite response to antibiotic exposures in cecum. Correlation network analysis revealed that the gut microbiota was more closely related to SCFAs in mice. We found that *Ruminococcaceae*, *Muribaculaceae*, *Lactobacillaceae*, *Akkermansiaeae*, *Bacteroidaceae*, *Rikenellaceae* and *Oscillospiraceae* had strong relationships with SCFA production, which are significantly reduced in cecal contents in AMC treated mice. These results were observed in prior study in only female mice [54].

The gut microbiota also has a key role in the supply of both BCAAs and AAAs to maintain host amino acid homeostasis [54, 55]. In this study, several associations were observed between the gut microbiota and amino acids in mice. Moreover, Sridharan *et al.*, 2014 [55], reported that amino acid and SCFA metabolism was largely affected by the gut microbiota, of which Pseudo-monadota could be the most important moderator [55]. Interestingly, we identified that *Erwiniceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae* in the Pseudomonadota phylum had highly negative relationships with SCFA and amino acids such as glutamine, glycine and proline and these families were significantly increased in AMC treated mice compared to control mice. Yet another SCFA, formate oxidation contributes to the inflammation-associated bloom of phylum Pseudomonadota especially Enterobacteriaceae family [56]. In our study we found that, *Erwiniceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae* showed

positive correlation with formate. Therefore, may be cecum inflammation in AMC treated mice was a result of higher proportion of *Erwiniceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae*. Interestingly, we observed that formate was significantly increased for all AMC treated mice except for yogurt BB-12 mice. Therefore, yogurt and BB-12 combination may have positive effect in the restoration of formate level.

Finally, to compare the effect of BB-12 and AMC we used genetically homogenous C57Bl/6J mice grown in a similar condition to ensure that the experimental condition is identical for each mouse. Thorough statistical analyses showed that cohort 1 had different microbiome in GI tract compared to cohort 2 & 3 at each time point in AMC treated mice. No cohort effect was observed for body weight, water intake, or metabolome data. This indicates that cohort 1 mice may have behaved differently on a genotype-by-genotype basis than cohorts 2 and 3 which is consistent with previous C57Bl/6J mice results [42].

#### 5 Conclusion

Our microbiota results suggest that high dose of AMC had very strong effects on microbial composition and cecal metabolites indicated by significant reduction in male body weight, cecal inflammation, reduction in 16S rRNA cell numbers, reduction in SCFA and amino acids and significant increase in the proportion of phylum Pseudomonadota which is a sign of gut dysbiosis. Overall, effects of BB-12 and yogurt were minimal in AMC treated mice. Additionally, we found that survival rate of BB-12 in powder form was higher compared to addition of yogurt.

Future research should extend these findings and include using low dose of amoxicillin clavulanate through metagenomic and metatranscriptomics analysis of the microbiota, while also expanding the clinical outcomes.



Figure 1. Weight change and water intake over the 10-day study. Percent change in mouse body weight for (A) males and (B) females and water intake (ml) for (C) males (D) females, relative to the day when AMC was first added to the drinking water. Average water intake (ml) quantified for two mice per cage, every 24 h starting on the first day after AMC and the study. Body weight data and water intake are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM (n = 12 for body weight, n = 6 cages with two mice per cage). Significant differences were determined using the Two-way ANOVA (\* P<0.05). '\*' represents significant difference between saline (control) and all antibiotic (Ab) treated mice for each day.



Figure 2. *Bifidobacterium tuf* copy numbers in mouse fecal and cecal contents. Each point represents one fecal or cecal or sample. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=12 mice per treatment for fecal contents (day 1 and 5) and cecal contents, n=8 mice for fecal contents at day 10). The broken horizontal line indicates the lower detection limit of *Bifidobacterium tuf* gene copy numbers. Blue dots indicate mouse cohort 1, green dots cohort 2 and pink dots indicate cohort 3.



Figure 3. Bacterial cell number estimates in mouse cecal and fecal and cecal contents. The dashed horizontal line indicates the lower limit of detection limit of 16S rRNA gene copy number. Blue circles - cohort 1, green circles - cohort 2 and pink circles - cohort 3. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=12 mice per treatment for fecal contents (day 1 and 5) cecal contents and n=8 mice for fecal contents at day 10). Significant differences were determined using the Two-way ANOVA test (\* P<0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P< 0.001, \*\*\*\* P<0.000



**Figure 4. Bacterial beta diversity in mouse feces and cecal contents.** PCoA plots on beta diversity based on Bray- Curtis distances for 16S rRNA bacterial communities in (A) fecal and (B) cecal contents (1 time point). Confidence ellipse plots for each group represented at a 95% level based on different time points for fecal contents and for three the cohorts in cecal contents. Cohort difference also observed in fecal content was similar to cecal content (data not shown).



Figure 5. Bacterial taxa detected in significantly different proportions in fecal samples. Bacterial families found in significantly different proportions in fecal samples in at least one time point are shown. Significant differences were determined using the Kruskal- Wallis test (\* P<0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P< 0.001, \*\*\*\* P<0.001).



**Figure 6. AMC resulted in reduced cecal SCFA and altered amino acid levels. (A)** PCoA plot made based on Euclidian distances for cecal metabolome. **(B)** Metabolites found in different quantities in mouse cecal contents. Significant differences were determined for SCFA and amino acids using the ANNOVA test followed by post hoc analysis (\* P<0.05).



Figure 7. Correlation between cecal metabolome and microbiota. Pairwise correlations of metabolites and family level taxonomic abundances in the cecum. Positive correlations are shown in blue and negative correlations in brown. Blue represented significant positive correlation (P < 0.05, 1 indicate perfect positive correlation (dark blue), brown represented significantly negative correlation (P < 0.05, -1 represent perfect negative correlation (dark brown)), and white represented that the correlation was not significant (P > 0.05) according to Spearman's rank correlation coefficient.

## **Supplemental Figures**



**Suppl. Fig. 1. Antibiotics resulted in enlarged cecum sizes of mice on day 10.** Representative images are shown for each treatment.



**Suppl. Fig 2.** Colon length of mice. Colon lengths were measured during necropsy from the proximal colon to the anus on day 10. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM (n = 12 mice). \*, p < 0.05 according to Two-way ANOVA test.



Suppl. Fig 3. Bacterial beta diversity in fecal contents. Bray curtis diversity at different sampling times of different treatments showed on x axis. Significant difference was determined using Kruskal- Wallis test (\* P<0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P< 0.001, \*\*\*\* P<0.0001)



Suppl. Fig 4. Bacterial alpha diversity in fecal and cecal contents. Shannon diversity at different sampling times of different fecal content and cecal content. Significant difference was determined using Kruskal- Wallis test (\* P<0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P< 0.001).



**Suppl. Fig.5. Alpha diversity of fecal contents changes over time in different treatments.** Box plots represent fecal alpha diversity according to **(A)** Faith PD and **(B)** Observed OTUs.



Suppl. Fig. 6. Relative abundance of bacteria using taxa bar plot. Top 15 families detected in

individual mouse fecal contents over time in different treatments.



Suppl. Fig. 7. Bacterial phyla in the mouse fecal contents in three cohorts. Proportions of bacterial phyla detected in individual mouse fecal contents in three cohorts. X axis (bottom) represents three cohorts and Y represent relative proportion of bacterial phylum (right) in different treatments and time points represented on X axis (top). Significant differences were determined by Kruskal- Wallis test (\* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001, \*\*\*\* P < 0.0001)



**Suppl. Fig. 8: Proportions of bacteria in fecal and cecal contents on day 10.** Taxa bar plot represented the relative abundance of bacteria on phylum level in cecal content and fecal samples

on day 10.



**Suppl. Fig. 9. Heat map of cecal bacteria based on bacterial proportion.** Cecal microbiota represents family level in different treatments.



**Suppl. Fig. 10. Significantly different cecal metabolites affected by AMC. (A)** Metabolites reduced due to AMC effect **(B)** metabolites increased in AMC treated mice. Significant differences were determined for SCFA, amino acids and other metabolites using the ANNOVA test followed by post hoc analysis (\* P<0.05).



**Suppl. Fig. 11. Cohort effect on cecal metabolites.** PCoA plot made based on Euclidian distances using multivariate analysis for cecal metabolome. Cohort one clusters away from cohort two and three.

## References

- 1. Butler, C. C., Duncan, D., & Hood, K. (2012). Does taking probiotics routinely with antibiotics prevent antibiotic associated diarrhoea? BMJ (Clinical research ed.), 344, e682. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e682
- 2. Agamennone, V., Krul, C., Rijkers, G., & Kort, R. (2018). A practical guide for probiotics applied to the case of antibiotic-associated diarrhea in The Netherlands. BMC gastroenter-ology, 18(1), 103. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12876-018-0831-x
- Larcombe, S., Hutton, M. L., & Lyras, D. (2016). Involvement of Bacteria Other Than Clostridium difficile in Antibiotic-Associated Diarrhoea. Trends in microbiology, 24(6), 463–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2016.02.001
- Hill, C., Guarner, F., Reid, G., Gibson, G. R., Merenstein, D. J., Pot, B., Morelli, L., Canani, R. B., Flint, H. J., Salminen, S., Calder, P. C., & Sanders, M. E. (2014). Expert consensus document. The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate use of the term probiotic. Nature reviews. Gastroenterology & hepatology, 11(8), 506–514. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrgastro.2014.66
- Hempel, S., Newberry, S. J., Maher, A. R., Wang, Z., Miles, J. N., Shanman, R., Johnsen, B., & Shekelle, P. G. (2012). Probiotics for the prevention and treatment of antibioticassociated diarrhea: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA, 307(18), 1959–1969. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.3507
- 6. Guo, Q., Goldenberg, J. Z., Humphrey, C., El Dib, R., & Johnston, B. C. (2019). Probiotics for the prevention of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews, 4(4), CD004827. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004827.pub5
- Su, G. L., Ko, C. W., Bercik, P., Falck-Ytter, Y., Sultan, S., Weizman, A. V., & Morgan, R. L. (2020). AGA Clinical Practice Guidelines on the Role of Probiotics in the Management of Gastrointestinal Disorders. Gastroenterology, 159(2), 697–705. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2020.05.059
- 8. Mekonnen, S. A., Merenstein, D., Fraser, C. M., & Marco, M. L. (2020). Molecular mechanisms of probiotic prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhea. Current opinion in biotechnology, 61, 226–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2020.01.005
- Blaabjerg, S., Artzi, D. M., & Aabenhus, R. (2017). Probiotics for the Prevention of Antibiotic-Associated Diarrhea in Outpatients-A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Antibiotics (Basel, Switzerland), 6(4), 21. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics6040021
- Jungersen, M., Wind, A., Johansen, E., Christensen, J. E., Stuer-Lauridsen, B., & Eskesen, D. (2014). The Science behind the Probiotic Strain Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis BB-12(®). Microorganisms, 2(2), 92–110. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms2020092
- Merenstein, D., Gonzalez, J., Young, A. G., Roberts, R. F., Sanders, M. E., & Petterson, S. (2011). Study to investigate the potential of probiotics in children attending school. European journal of clinical nutrition, 65(4), 447–453. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2010.290
- Merenstein, D., Murphy, M., Fokar, A., Hernandez, R. K., Park, H., Nsouli, H., Sanders, M. E., Davis, B. A., Niborski, V., Tondu, F., & Shara, N. M. (2010). Use of a fermented dairy probiotic drink containing Lactobacillus casei (DN-114 001) to decrease the rate of illness in kids: the DRINK study. A patient-oriented, double-blind, cluster-randomized, placebo-controlled, clinical trial. European journal of clinical nutrition, 64(7), 669–677. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2010.65

- Alander, M., Mättö, J., Kneifel, W., Johansson, M., Kögler, B., Crittenden, R., Mattila-Sandholm, T., & Saarela, M. (2001). Effect of galacto-oligosaccharide supplementation on human faecal microflora and on survival and persistence of Bifidobacterium lactis Bb-12 in the gastrointestinal tract. International Dairy Journal, 11(10), 817-825. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0958-6946(01)00100-5
- 14. Merenstein, D. J., Tan, T. P., Molokin, A., Smith, K. H., Roberts, R. F., Shara, N. M., Mete, M., Sanders, M. E., & Solano-Aguilar, G. (2015). Safety of Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis (B. lactis) strain BB-12-supplemented yogurt in healthy adults on antibiotics: a phase I safety study. Gut microbes, 6(1), 66–77. https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2015.1005484
- Tan, T. P., Ba, Z., Sanders, M. E., D'Amico, F. J., Roberts, R. F., Smith, K. H., & Merenstein, D. J. (2017). Safety of Bifidobacterium animalis Subsp. Lactis (B. lactis) Strain BB-12-Supplemented Yogurt in Healthy Children. Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition, 64(2), 302–309. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPG.00000000001272
- 16. Martins, A. K., Martins, F. S., Gomes, D. A., Elian, S. D., Vieira, A. T., Teixeira, M. M., Cara, D. C., Nardi, R. M., & Nicoli, J. R. (2010). Evaluation of in vitro antagonism and of in vivo immune modulation and protection against pathogenic experimental challenge of two probiotic strains of Bifidobacterium animalis var. lactis. Archives of microbiology, 192(12), 995–1003. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-010-0626-0
- Commane, D. M., Shortt, C. T., Silvi, S., Cresci, A., Hughes, R. M., & Rowland, I. R. (2005). Effects of fermentation products of pro- and prebiotics on trans-epithelial electrical resistance in an in vitro model of the colon. Nutrition and cancer, 51(1), 102–109. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327914nc5101\_14
- Chatterjee, S., Kar, P., Das, T., Ray, S., Gangulyt, S., Rajendiran, C., & Mitra, M. (2013). Randomised placebo-controlled double blind multicentric trial on efficacy and safety of Lactobacillus acidophilus LA-5 and Bifidobacterium BB-12 for prevention of antibioticassociated diarrhoea. The Journal of the Association of Physicians of India, 61(10), 708– 712.
- Merenstein, Daniel, Claire M. Fraser, Robert F. Roberts, Tian Liu, Silvia Grant-Beurmann, Tina P. Tan, Keisha H. Smith, Tom Cronin, Olivia A. Martin, Mary E. Sanders, Sean C. Lucan, and Maureen A. Kane. (2021). "Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis BB-12 Protects against Antibiotic-Induced Functional and Compositional Changes in Human Fecal Microbiome" Nutrients 13, no. 8: 2814. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13082814
- Lee, B., Yin, X., Griffey, S. M., & Marco, M. L. (2015). Attenuation of Colitis by Lactobacillus casei BL23 Is Dependent on the Dairy Delivery Matrix. Applied and environmental microbiology, 81(18), 6425–6435. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01360-15
- 21. Odooli S, Khalvati B, Safari A, Mehraban MH, Kargar M, Ghasemi Y. (2018). Comparison of tuf gene-based qPCR assay and selective plate count for Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis BB-12 quantification in commercial probiotic yoghurts. Int Food Res J
- 22. Tachon, S., Zhou, J., Keenan, M., Martin, R., & Marco, M. L. (2013). The intestinal microbiota in aged mice is modulated by dietary resistant starch and correlated with improvements in host responses. FEMS microbiology ecology, 83(2), 299–309. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2012.01475.x
- 23. Sambrook, J., & Russell, D. W. (2006). Purification of nucleic acids by extraction with phenol: chloroform. CSH protocols, 2006(1), pdb. prot4455. https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.prot4455

- 24. Xue Z, Kable ME, Marco ML. (2018). Impact of DNA Sequencing and Analysis Methods on 16S rRNA Gene Bacterial Community Analysis of Dairy Products. mSphere, doi:10.1128/msphere.00410-18. https://journals.asm.org/doi/10.1128/mSphere.00410-18
- 25. Kieffer, D. A., Piccolo, B. D., Vaziri, N. D., Liu, S., Lau, W. L., Khazaeli, M., Nazertehrani, S., Moore, M. E., Marco, M. L., Martin, R. J., & Adams, S. H. (2016). Resistant starch alters gut microbiome and metabolomic profiles concurrent with amelioration of chronic kidney disease in rats. American journal of physiology. Renal physiology, 310(9), F857–F871. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajprenal.00513.2015
- 26. Quinlan, A. R., & Hall, I. M. (2010). BEDTools: a flexible suite of utilities for comparing genomic features. Bioinformatics (Oxford, England), 26(6), 841–842. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btq033
- 27. Estaki, M., Jiang, L., Bokulich, N. A., McDonald, D., González, A., Kosciolek, T., Martino, C., Zhu, Q., Birmingham, A., Vázquez-Baeza, Y., Dillon, M. R., Bolyen, E., Caporaso, J. G., & Knight, R. (2020). QIIME 2 Enables Comprehensive End-to-End Analysis of Diverse Microbiome Data and Comparative Studies with Publicly Available Data. Current protocols in bioinformatics, 70(1), e100. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpbi.100
- 28. Quast, C., Pruesse, E., Yilmaz, P., Gerken, J., Schweer, T., Yarza, P., Peplies, J., & Glöckner, F. O. (2013). The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and web-based tools. Nucleic acids research, 41(Database issue), D590–D596. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1219
- 29. Tachon, S., Zhou, J., Keenan, M., Martin, R., & Marco, M. L. (2013). The intestinal microbiota in aged mice is modulated by dietary resistant starch and correlated with improvements in host responses. FEMS microbiology ecology, 83(2), 299–309. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2012.01475.x
- 30. Ingvorsen, C., Karp, N. A., & Lelliott, C. J. (2017). The role of sex and body weight on the metabolic effects of high-fat diet in C57BL/6N mice. Nutrition & diabetes, 7(4), e261. https://doi.org/10.1038/nutd.2017.6
- 31. Ihaka, R. and Gentleman, R. (1996) R: A Language for Data Analysis and Graphics. Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics, 5, 299-314. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10618600.1996.10474713
- 32. Verruck S, Silva KJ, de Oliveira Santeli H, et al. Bifidobacterium ani-malis ssp. lactis BB-12 enumeration by quantitative PCR assay inmicrocapsules with full-fat goat milk and inulin-type fructans.Food Res Int. 2020;133:109131
- 33. Miao, Z., Cheng, R., Zhang, Y., Liang, H., Jiang, F., Shen, X., Chen, G., Zhang, Q., He, F., & Li, M. (2020). Antibiotics can cause weight loss by impairing gut microbiota in mice and the potent benefits of lactobacilli. Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry, 84(2), 411–420. https://doi.org/10.1080/09168451.2019.1676696
- 34. Puhl, N. J., Uwiera, R. R., Yanke, L. J., Selinger, L. B., & Inglis, G. D. (2012). Antibiotics conspicuously affect community profiles and richness, but not the density of bacterial cells associated with mucosa in the large and small intestines of mice. Anaerobe, 18(1), 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2011.12.007
- 35. Lin, H., Wang, Q., Yuan, M., Liu, L., Chen, Z., Zhao, Y., Das, R., Duan, Y., Xu, X., Xue, Y., Luo, Y., & Mao, D. (2020). The prolonged disruption of a single-course amoxicillin on mice gut microbiota and resistome, and recovery by inulin, Bifidobacterium longum and

fecal microbiota transplantation. Environmental pollution (Barking, Essex: 1987), 265(Pt A), 114651. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.114651

- 36. Choi, S. I., Son, J. H., Kim, N., Kim, Y. S., Nam, R. H., Park, J. H., Song, C. H., Yu, J. E., Lee, D. H., Yoon, K., Min, H., Kim, Y. R., & Seok, Y. J. (2021). Changes in Cecal Microbiota and Short-chain Fatty Acid During Lifespan of the Rat. Journal of neurogastroenterology and motility, 27(1), 134–146. https://doi.org/10.5056/jnm20148
- Mancabelli, L., Mancino, W., Lugli, G. A., Argentini, C., Longhi, G., Milani, C., Viappiani, A., Anzalone, R., Bernasconi, S., van Sinderen, D., Ventura, M., & Turroni, F. (2021). Amoxicillin-Clavulanic Acid Resistance in the Genus Bifidobacterium. Applied and environmental microbiology, 87(7), e03137-20. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03137-20
- Mangin, I., Lévêque, C., Magne, F., Suau, A., & Pochart, P. (2012). Long-term changes in human colonic Bifidobacterium populations induced by a 5-day oral amoxicillin-clavulanic acid treatment. PloS one, 7(11), e50257. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0050257
- 39. Grazul, H., Kanda, L. L., & Gondek, D. (2016). Impact of probiotic supplements on microbiome diversity following antibiotic treatment of mice. Gut microbes, 7(2), 101–114. https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2016.1138197
- 40. Hill, D., Hoffmann, C., Abt, M. et al. (2010). Metagenomic analyses reveal antibiotic-induced temporal and spatial changes in intestinal microbiota with associated alterations in immune cell homeostasis. Mucosal Immunol 3, 148–158. https://doi.org/10.1038/mi.2009.132
- Savage, D. C., & Dubos, R. (1968). Alterations in the mouse cecum and its flora produced by antibacterial drugs. The Journal of experimental medicine, 128(1), 97–110. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.128.1.97
- 42. M. Pevsner-Fischer, C. Rot, T. Tuganbaev, E. Elinav. (2016). The microbiota and its modulation in immune-mediated disorders. Immune Rebalancing, pp. 191-227
- 43. Russell, S. L., Gold, M. J., Hartmann, M., Willing, B. P., Thorson, L., Wlodarska, M., Gill, N., Blanchet, M. R., Mohn, W. W., McNagny, K. M., & Finlay, B. B. (2012). Early life antibiotic-driven changes in microbiota enhance susceptibility to allergic asthma. EMBO reports, 13(5), 440–447. https://doi.org/10.1038/embor.2012.32
- 44. Evans J, Hannoodee M, Wittler M. Amoxicillin Clavulanate. (2022) In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls
- 45. Milani, C., Duranti, S., Bottacini, F., Casey, E., Turroni, F., Mahony, J., Belzer, C., Delgado Palacio, S., Arboleya Montes, S., Mancabelli, L., Lugli, G. A., Rodriguez, J. M., Bode, L., de Vos, W., Gueimonde, M., Margolles, A., van Sinderen, D., & Ventura, M. (2017). The First Microbial Colonizers of the Human Gut: Composition, Activities, and Health Implications of the Infant Gut Microbiota. Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR, 81(4), e00036-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00036-17
- 46. Lode, H., Von der Höh, N., Ziege, S., Borner, K., & Nord, C. E. (2001). Ecological effects of linezolid versus amoxicillin/clavulanic acid on the normal intestinal microflora. Scandinavian journal of infectious diseases, 33(12), 899–903. https://doi.org/10.1080/00365540110076714
- 47. Reese, A. T., Cho, E. H., Klitzman, B., Nichols, S. P., Wisniewski, N. A., Villa, M. M., Durand, H. K., Jiang, S., Midani, F. S., Nimmagadda, S. N., O'Connell, T. M., Wright, J.

P., Deshusses, M. A., & David, L. A. (2018). Antibiotic-induced changes in the microbiota disrupt redox dynamics in the gut. eLife, 7, e35987. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.35987

- 48. Stanley, D., Geier, M.S., Chen, H. et al. (2015). Comparison of fecal and cecal microbiotas reveals qualitative similarities but quantitative differences. BMC Microbiol 15, 51. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-015-0388-6
- 49. Yang, L., Bajinka, O., Jarju, P. O., Tan, Y., Taal, A. M., & Ozdemir, G. (2021). The varying effects of antibiotics on gut microbiota. AMB Express, 11(1), 116. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13568-021-01274-w
- 50. Pinto, S. S., Cavalcante, B. D., Verruck, S., Alves, L. F., Prudêncio, E. S., & Amboni, R. D. (2017). Effect of the incorporation of Bifidobacterium BB-12 microencapsulated with sweet whey and inulin on the properties of Greek-style yogurt. Journal of food science and technology, 54(9), 2804–2813. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-017-2717-2
- 51. Ba, Z., Lee, Y., Meng, H., Kris-Etherton, P. M., Rogers, C. J., Lewis, Z. T., Mills, D. A., Furumoto, E. J., Rolon, M. L., Fleming, J. A., & Roberts, R. F. (2021). Matrix Effects on the Delivery Efficacy of Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. lactis BB-12 on Fecal Microbiota, Gut Transit Time, and Short-Chain Fatty Acids in Healthy Young Adults. mSphere, 6(4), e0008421. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSphere.00084-21
- Nicholson, J. K., Holmes, E., Kinross, J., Burcelin, R., Gibson, G., Jia, W., & Pettersson, S. (2012). Host-gut microbiota metabolic interactions. Science (New York, N.Y.), 336(6086), 1262–1267. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1223813
- 53. Koh, A., De Vadder, F., Kovatcheva-Datchary, P., & Bäckhed, F. (2016). From Dietary Fiber to Host Physiology: Short-Chain Fatty Acids as Key Bacterial Metabolites. Cell, 165(6), 1332–1345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.041
- 54. Gao, H., Shu, Q., Chen, J., Fan, K., Xu, P., Zhou, Q., Li, C., & Zheng, H. (2019). Antibiotic Exposure Has Sex-Dependent Effects on the Gut Microbiota and Metabolism of Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Amino Acids in Mice. mSystems, 4(4), e00048-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00048-19
- 55. Sridharan, G. V., Choi, K., Klemashevich, C., Wu, C., Prabakaran, D., Pan, L. B., Steinmeyer, S., Mueller, C., Yousofshahi, M., Alaniz, R. C., Lee, K., & Jayaraman, A. (2014). Prediction and quantification of bioactive microbiota metabolites in the mouse gut. Nature communications, 5, 5492. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6492
- 56. Hughes, E. R., Winter, M. G., Duerkop, B. A., Spiga, L., Furtado de Carvalho, T., Zhu, W., Gillis, C. C., Büttner, L., Smoot, M. P., Behrendt, C. L., Cherry, S., Santos, R. L., Hooper, L. V., & Winter, S. E. (2017). Microbial Respiration and Formate Oxidation as Metabolic Signatures of Inflammation-Associated Dysbiosis. Cell host & microbe, 21(2), 208–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2017.01.005